1980

# Miller Pontiac, Inc., A Utah Corporation, D/B/A Laury Miller Pontiac v. Janet S. Osborne : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action regarding a breach of contract.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After the trial court overruled the motion of counsel for appellant for a continuance based upon the appellant's absence and lack of knowledge of the trial, he heard the case and determined that the appellant breached her contract with the respondent. The trial court then refused to modify the judgment or award a new trial when advised of both his erroneous rulings and the failure of respondent to comply with the law regarding resale after repossession.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks in the alternative either judgment in her favor that respondent breached the contract with appellant or

breached its statutory duties to appellant and is thus not entitled to relief from appellant or reversal of the judgment of the trial court and remand of the case for a fair re-trial.

#### STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

The parties entered into a contract whereby the plaintiff sold the defendant an automobile. A contract was signed on March 20, 1978 and a second on or about April 10, 1978. (R. 2, 105-106, 126, 129-130) Shortly after the signing of the second contract, the car ceased operating and was returned by the appellant to the respondent. (R. 133, 214-215) Thereafter, the appellant refused to pay for the car so respondent repaired it, resold it (without notice to the appellant) and instituted the instant action against appellant for damages in the amount of \$14,287.04 plus interest and attorneys fees. (R. 2-4).

The appellant purchased the automobile for her son, Don. He drove it for three weeks and it ceased to operate (R. 217). Don testified that sometimes, because of the power of the car and injuries he had suffered, the car would "patch out", that is the clutch would pop out so fast that the rear wheels would spin before the car could go into an even starting motion (R. 207, 217) but both he and two of his friends, who frequently drove with him during the three weeks that he had the automobile in his possession testified that he drove it carefully and considerably. (R. 197-198, 200-201, 204, 207, 208, 209) Despite this caution and care, the car ceased to operate three weeks after its purchase. (R. 217)



Don Osborne testified that a few days before the car ceased to function, he heard unusual noises and took the car in for servicing. Although he left it all day at Laury Miller's, the service department did nothing with the car. (R. 207, 211-212) Since he intended to take the car on a trip to Bear Lake and was worried about the noises, he asked if it would be all right to do so without their having performed service upon it and was informed that this could be done. (R. 207, 209, 210, 211-212).

After receiving this reassurance, Mr. Osborne took the car on the trip. When the noise became worse, he pulled into a gas station at Park City, Utah for service. The car was low on oil and four quarts were added. (R. 213) When he returned to Salt Lake City, the car simply stopped running and smoke began pouring from it. (R. 214). Thereafter, Mr. Osborne called Laury Miller and told them to take the car back. (R. 214). Mr. Osborne informed respondent to keep the car if they would not put a new engine in it; respondent informed him that he should pay for repairs and keep the car. (R. 218-129).

The mechanic who repaired the car for respondent testified that he felt that the car had been run at excessive RPM, had suffered excessive clutch and rear tire wear, found the car to be full of oil and did not find damage consistent with the testimony of Mr. Osborne that he had to add the four quarts of oil. (R. 270-175).

The automobile, after repair, was resold at a profit by respondent to another purchaser without notice to appellant. (R. 68-69, 162)

Trial of this case was repeatedly reset by the court before it ultimately came to trial. The clerk of Salt Lake County originally set this matter for trial on March 28, 1979, by a notice mailed July 26, 1978. (R. 12) A pre-trial settlement conference was thereafter held on March 8, 1979, (R. 20) and the trial date of March 28, 1979, was confirmed. (R. 21) On March 23, 1979, the clerk's office, based on the fact that no judge would be available to hear the case, continued the trial to May 24, 1979. (R. 22) Thereafter, on May 24, 1979, for the convenience of the court, the trial was continued until June 13, 1979, (R. 48) On May 25, 1979, the trial was reset for June 11, 1979, (R. 49) and upon agreement of counsel for the respective parties on May 30, 1979, an amended notice of continuance was sent out confirming the trial date of June 11, 1979. (R. 50)

On June 11, 1979, counsel for the appellant appeared before the court and requested a continuance based on the fact that his client was not present and since he had not been able to confirm with his client that the trial would be on June 11, 1979, stated he did not know if she knew it would be held. He stated he felt that her case was prejudiced by going to trial without her. (R. 52, 92) This motion was denied by the trial court who compelled counsel for the appellant to go forward in her absence. (R. 52-53, 92-93)

After trial, counsel for appellant discussed the trial with appellant and learned that no notice of the resale or intent to resell the automobile was ever sent by respondent to appellant. After judgment was entered against appellant, the trial court was informed of this (R. 68-69). In oral argument of the motion for new trial or to amend judgment, counsel for the respondent admitted no evidence of compliance with Section 70A-9-504 Utah Code Annotated 1953, could be found but asserted that this was not timely raised. The trial court overruled the appellant's motions (R. 77, 78) and this appeal was taken (R. 80).

#### ARGUMENTS

##### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING A CONTINUANCE TO APPELLANT AND REQUIRING APPELLANT'S COUNSEL TO GO TO TRIAL WHEN APPELLANT WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PROCEEDINGS, DID NOT HAVE NOTICE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE TO RESPONDENT WHICH WOULD HAVE RESULTED FROM A CONTINUANCE.

This court has declared that:

" . . . it is in accord with the most fundamental traditions of our legal system that a party should be afforded every reasonable opportunity to be in attendance at his trial. Jaffe v. Lilienthal, 101 Cal. 175, 35 P. 636; cf. Westfall v. Motors Ins. Corp., 36 Mont. 449, 348 P.2d 784 (1960)."

Bairas v. Johnson, 13 Utah 2d 269, 273, 373 P.2d 375 (1972). This rule was rejected by the trial court in the instant matter when

appellant's counsel was forced to go to trial in her absence. This abuse is pronounced in this case as the matter was repeatedly reset for trial by the court, not either of the parties. When the trial date was finally set and held, counsel was unable to confirm the reset trial date with his client between May 30, 1979 and June 11, 1979. As a result, despite intense efforts both by her son and her attorney to reach her she was not available for trial.\*

The respondent was ready for trial on June 11, 1979 but asserted no prejudice to the court if the trial were continued. Respondent's counsel simply asserted that he was present with his witnesses and desired to proceed. Despite all these factors the trial court required counsel for appellant to proceed in her absence.

In Bairas v. Johnson, supra, as in the instant matter, a motion for continuance was overruled by the trial court and a party was required to go to trial because the deposition of that party was available for use by the court. This Court noted regarding such a procedure that:

" . . . the superiority of oral testimony to that taken by deposition is apparent, and resort to deposition to introduce a party's testimony of trial should be done only when the circumstances will not reasonably allow a desirous party to appear in his own behalf." 13 Utah 2d at 273; 373 P.2d at \_\_\_\_.

---

\*Appellant was in Texas and all efforts to inform her of the trial before it started failed.

The appellant's testimony was vital to her case. Counsel for the appellant did not learn that two contracts between the parties had been signed as far apart as March 20th and April 10th until the course of the trial. (R. 181) Nor did counsel for appellant learn that there had been no notice of the resale of the automobile by respondent until after the trial had been completed. (R. 68-69) This was in part a result of settlement negotiations between the parties which were initiated immediately after the depositions of the parties and terminated slightly before the trial but it was also a result of an inability of counsel for appellant to work with her over the discovered documents before trial. In addition, testimony regarding face-to-face negotiations between appellant and Jim Hayes, Ken Christofferson and Jeff Tebbs could not be presented. Finally, a defense which could well be decisive in this matter was not discovered until after trial. Thus, as noted by this Court in Bairas v. Johnson, 13 Utah 2d at 273, the impact on appellant's position of her non-attendance was crucial.

This is underlined by the fact that the continuance was requested not because appellant had determined not to come to court or had taken evasive or dilatory action or ignored the matter but simply did not know that the case had been set for trial. The repeated continuances in this case had resulted from the action of the court, not from either party and appellant could

not be reached by her counsel after the May 30th confirmation of the trial setting by counsel and the court.

This was not discovered until a few days before trial and once counsel for appellant learned of the problem he informed counsel for respondent that he was having trouble locating his client and might have to make a continuance request if he could not reach her. This was confirmed immediately before going to trial when counsel for appellant had definitely determined neither he nor the appellant's son had been able to reach the appellant to inform her that the trial was going to occur.

As much notice as could reasonably be prepared and transmitted was effected. Under such circumstances this court has held that:

"Whatever the rule might be when counsel have ample time within which to make a motion for continuance, when counsel are taken by surprise, as in this case, so that they do not have five days in which to serve the motion, they are not precluded from making the motion." 13 Utah 2d at 274.

In this case, counsel for the appellant learned only a few days before the trial that appellant might not know about the trial. He notified counsel for respondent of the problem and tried both personally and through appellant's son, Don Osborne, to inform her of the trial but was unable to do so. Consequently, the notice contemplated under Rule 40(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure could not be provided. However, under that rule as construed by

the Utah Supreme Court in Bairas v. Johnson, supra, proper and adequate notice for the motion for continuance was presented.

Finally, it should be noted that no showing of any unfairness or damage to respondent was asserted when counsel for appellant made this request for continuance. The appellant was not offered the option of paying costs to have the matter continued, Youngren v. John W. Lloyd Construction Co., 22 Utah 2d 207, 450 P.2d 985 (1969), her motion was simply overruled and she, to her obvious detriment, (through her counsel) was forced to go into a trial. This abuse of discretion requires this court to reverse the judgment entered against the appellant and remand the matter for a new trial. Bairas v. Johnson, supra.

#### POINT II

RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 70A-9-501 AND 504, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1953) PRECLUDES THE AWARD OF DAMAGES AGAINST APPELLANT.

This Court has ruled:

"In an action for a deficiency judgment such as this the secured party has the burden of establishing that the disposition of the property was done in a commercially reasonable manner, and that reasonable notice to the debtor(s) was given." (Emphasis added) FMA Financial Corp. v. Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d 803 at 806-07 (Utah 1979).

In this case after appellant returned the car to respondent, it was resold at a profit (R. 162) but no notice of the intent to sell or of the sale was ever given to the



appellant. Accordingly, respondent has not met its burden and was not entitled to the deficiency judgment which is in reality the judgment entered by the trial court against appellant. In this case as in FMA Financial Corp. v. Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d at 807-08, no notice was given of the resale and no deficiency judgment should have been granted to respondent.

After the trial, when appellant discussed the matter with her counsel, she advised her counsel for the first time that she had never received notice of this resale or even notice that respondent intended to resell the car. Counsel for appellant raised this with the trial court as a part of appellant's motion pursuant to Rules 59 and 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 68-69). Even though counsel for respondent admitted in oral argument on these motions that no such notice was transmitted to appellant, the trial court overruled appellant's motions (R. 77, 78). In making this ruling the trial court erred as respondent's invocation of Section 70-A-9-501 and 504 Utah Code Annotated 1953 required the trial court to deny the respondent any recovery on its complaint once it was established that appellant had no notice of the sale.

Counsel for respondent asserted that the appellant's failure to raise this defense before trial precluded court consideration of this defense. Counsel for appellant responded that it had been raised in a timely fashion due to the fact



that the trial court had overruled a motion for continuance and compelled counsel for the appellant to go to trial when she was not present and that the matter was now being raised before the judgment had become final and appealable. Nonetheless, the trial court overruled these objections (R. 77-78) and this appeal followed.

Utah law is very clear that where there is a failure to comply with the provisions of Section 70A-9-504(3) Utah Code Annotated 1953, through a failure to provide notice of the proposed sale it precludes a deficiency judgment against the debtor. FMA Financial Corporation v. Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979); Chrysler Credit Corp. v. Burns, 562 P.2d 233 (Utah 1977). In the instant action, there is no question that the car over which this action has been maintained was resold by respondent after repossession and that the resale produced a profit to respondent. (R. 157, 158-159, 162, 166). Thus the trial court erred in overruling the appellant's motions and should either have modified the judgment or set it aside and directed a re-trial of this matter.

While respondent asserts that the failure of appellant to properly raise this in the pleadings prevents consideration of the issue, appellant asserts that she did raise it in as timely a fashion as she could in the face of the actions of the trial court. This is not a situation like that considered

by this court in Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, 570 P.2d 1031 (Utah 1977), where the obligation so far exceeded the debt that notice of the sale would have been of no effect nor produced any injustice. Nor is it like the case of American State Insurance Company v. Miller, Adams and Crawford, 557 P.2d 756 (Utah 1976) where the issue of the failure to comply with Section 70A-9-504 Utah Code Annotated 1953 was raised for the first time on appeal. The defense in the instant action was raised to the trial court, admitted by the respondent and improperly rejected by the trial court before the judgment became final. This rejection of clear legal principle by the trial court requires this court to reverse the judgment of the trial court and either enter judgment in favor of appellant or remand for trial on the question of compliance with the provisions of Section 70A-9-501 and 504, Utah Code Annotated 1953.

### POINT III

RESPONDENT WAS AWARDED EXCESSIVE DAMAGES TO WHICH IT WAS NOT ENTITLED.

It is Horbook Blackletter Law that:

"To recover substantial damages for a given claim of loss or damage, the plaintiff has the burden of proving such loss or damage did in fact result, and that it was caused by defendant's wrongdoing". Handbook on the Law of Damages, Charles T. McCormick, West Pub. Co. 1935, P. 53,

or as the rule was stated by this court:

"One is liable only for the actual damage his acts provoke." Thompson v. Jacobson, 23 Utah 2d 359, 360, 463 P.2d 801 (1970).

This principle was rejected by the trial court in the judgment entered against appellant and this court must correct that error.

The trial court itemized the damages awarded by minute entry on August 6, 1979 (R. 57) and they were incorporated in the final judgment of the court. (R. 145-148) The objections of the appellant to these awards were overruled. (R. 77-78) In these rulings, the court made several obvious errors that are inconsistent with the evidence presented by respondent.

The first and foremost error is that when the car was resold at a profit, it was clear respondent suffered no damage and the complaint should have been dismissed. The court's action allowed Laury Miller to recover everything to which it might have been entitled by the resale and yet awarded a double recovery by entering a judgment for unsustained damages as the profit earned on the resale exceeded the cost of the car and repairs and all other elements of claimed damages. (R. 26, 157-159, 162, 166)

In addition, damages for specific items which the record demonstrated were not suffered.

The trial court awarded to the plaintiff lost profit in the sum of \$829.00. (R. 57, 148-149) However, the record clearly revealed that the automobile was resold at a profit. (R. 257, 158-159, 162, 166) In awarding the respondent lost profits

when they had not been lost, the trial court erred.

The court awarded damages entitled "expense of processing" in the sum of \$100.00. (R. 57, 67) In doing so, the court erred as the testimony clearly related that this \$100.00 was recovered when the automobile was resold after repair. (R. 167)

The trial court awarded commissions in the sum of \$392.01. (R. 57, 67) This was in error. \$88.00 of the \$392.01 was never paid by respondent and that sum, having been recovered on resale, was never lost. (R. 167)

Profit from the service contract in the sum of \$260.00 was also awarded by the trial court. (R. 57, 67) The testimony was that only 35% of this would have been lost had the second purchaser not taken a service contract. (R. 146-147)

Finally, the court awarded \$1,018.56 for the repairs respondent made to the automobile (R. 57, 67) despite the fact that the testimony revealed that the cost of those repairs to Laury Miller was only \$778.91. (R. 145)

In sum, the trial court awarded, assuming that the respondent was entitled to damages, \$239.65 for the cost of repairs, \$169.00 for profit from the service contract, \$88.01 as lost commissions, \$829.00 as lost profit and \$100.00 for the expense of processing, or \$1,425.66 for damages not suffered by respondent. In addition, the court awarded \$1,512.55 in damages not suffered as the car was resold at a profit thus recouping

these costs for respondent. (R. 26, 157-59, 162, 166). This error must be corrected by this court.

#### POINT IV

APPELLANT PROPERLY REVOKED HER ACCEPTANCE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 70A-2-608 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, OR RESCINDED THE CONTRACT.

Utah law clearly allows a purchaser such as appellant, of goods which have a defect which is not discovered at the time of sale to either revoke her acceptance or rescind the contract. The Legislature has enacted a provision governing the revocation of acceptance:

Section 70A-2-608 Utah Code Annotated states:

Revocation of acceptance in whole or in part.  
--(1) The buyer may revoke his acceptance of a lot or commercial unit whose nonconformity substantially impairs its value to him if he has accepted it

(a) on the reasonable assumption that its nonconformity would be cured and it has not been seasonably cured; or

(b) without discovery of such nonconformity if his acceptance was reasonably induced either by the difficulty or discovery before acceptance or by the seller's assurances.

(2) Revocation of acceptance must occur within a reasonable time after the buyer discovers or should have discovered the ground for it and before any substantial change in condition of the goods which is not caused by their own defects. It is not effective until the buyer notified the seller of it.

(3) A buyer who so revokes has the same rights and duties with regard to the goods involved as if he had rejected them.

This court enunciated the applicable standards for rescission:

"Traditionally, a person who has been fraudulently induced to enter into a contract has either of two remedies; he could rescind the transaction--tendering back what he has received and suing for what he has parted with; or, he may affirm the transaction and maintain an action in deceit. The Uniform Commercial Code makes damages available in an action for rescission, but it does not otherwise change the traditional theory of election of remedies.

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