1980

Miller Pontiac, Inc., A Utah Corporation, D/B/A Laury Miller Pontiac v. Janet S. Osborne : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE GRANTING OR DENYING OF A MOTION
FOR CONTINUANCE IS LEFT TO THE SOUND
DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT AND
SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED ON APPEAL
ABSENT A STRONG SHOWING OF ABUSE.

The appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied appellant's Motion for Continuance and required appellant's counsel to proceed to trial in her absence. Rule 40(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that postponement of a trial or proceeding is left to the discretion of the Court and should be granted for good cause shown. This statutory principle is reiterated in Griffith v. Hammon, 560 P.2d 1375 (Utah, 1977) wherein the Supreme Court held that:

"A party is not granted a continuance
as a matter of right, but rather as
an act of discretion by the court . . . "

In that case, the matter was set for trial and the defendants promptly objected based upon their counsel's inability to appear on the date set because of a previously scheduled appearance in another District Court on the same day. There were no Law & Motion days held from the date of filing of the objection and the trial date and, subsequently, the objection was never

heard. Defendants did not appear at trial and the Court entered the defendants' default and awarded Judgment to the plaintiffs. On appeal, this Court reversed, finding that the defendants had made timely objection, given necessary notice, and had made a reasonable effort to have the trial date changed for good cause. In the instant case, however, appellant made no objection to the trial setting, did not give notice, and made no reasonable effort to have the trial date changed until the morning of the trial. Even at that late hour, appellant's counsel provided no explanation for appellant's absence, nor did he proffer any evidence which would be had should appellant be present. In fact, appellant's son was present, was knowledgeable concerning the facts of the matter, and testified on behalf of the appellant.

Appellant relies on the case of Bairas v. Johnson, 13 U.2d 269, 373 P.2d 375 (1962), in which this Court reversed a denial of a Motion for Continuance. However, the facts of that case are clearly distinguishable from the instant case.

In Bairas, the plaintiff was confined to a hospital following an automobile accident. Trial was set for June 28, 1961, and on June 22, plaintiff's

counsel filed a Motion to Vacate the Trial Setting for the reason that plaintiff was hospitalized in California and unable to travel to Utah. The Motion was accompanied by an Affidavit of plaintiff's attending physician, that plaintiff was not physically able to make the trip to Utah at this time, but that the physician believed that plaintiff would be able to do so in approximately three months. The Motion was argued to the Court on June 26. The Court granted a continuance to September 20, 1961, and further ordered that should the plaintiff be unable to appear for trial at that date, his deposition will be taken by his counsel for use at the trial. Plaintiff was subsequently unable to attend the trial on September 20, and his counsel moved for a continuance. The Motion was supported by another Affidavit from plaintiff's attending physician and one from plaintiff's California counsel to the effect that it was believed plaintiff could attend the trial up until three days prior to trial. The trial court denied plaintiff's Motion for Continuance, proceeded to trial, and entered a Judgment of Dismissal With Prejudice. On appeal, this Court reversed and remanded for a new trial, stating:

"The reviewing court should not reverse the trial court's continuance ruling without a showing that the

trial court has abused its discretion."

In the instant case, no reason was ever provided for the absence of the appellant at trial. Moreover, appellant's counsel made no Motion for a Continuance nor gave any Notice thereof until the morning of trial. Furthermore, appellant's counsel did not indicate any evidence which would be forthcoming had appellant been present at trial, while in Bairas, one of the underlying reasons for the Court's reversal was the finding that the plaintiff's testimony was essential to his case. Here, the appellant's son was present and testified at trial and had as much knowledge, if not more, concerning the facts of this matter, as the appellant.

The rule that a Motion for Continuance is in the sound discretion of the trial court is followed in other jurisdictions. In Security National Bank v. City of Olathe, 589 P.2d 589 (Kans., 1979), the Kansas Supreme Court on appeal refused to disturb the trial court's holding absent a clear sign of abuse. In McCrary v. Bill McCarty Construction Co., Inc., 591 P.2d 683 (N.M. App., 1979), the court held that a grant

or denial of a Motion for Continuance is within the discretion of the trial court and would only be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Finally, In The Matter of Swartzfager, 595 P.2d 508 (Ore. App., 1979), the court stated that a Motion for Continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its action thereon will not be reviewed except for a clear abuse of discretion. That case concerned an adoption proceeding and, as in Bairas, one party's physical inability to attend trial established a right to the continuance. In the present case there was no physical inability to attend trial, no apparent conflict of dates, and no other reason given which would constitute "good cause" for permitting a continuance. In Mahoney v. Linder, 514 P.2d 901, (Ore. App., 1973), the court held that a denial of continuance of a hearing on the merits of an adoption petition was not error, where the father had failed to keep his attorney, who had notice of the hearing, advised of his whereabouts. The appellant in this case was aware of the proceedings against her and counsel had sufficient notice of the trial date. From the Statement of Facts contained in appellant's Brief, it appears that her counsel was unable to locate her in order to notify her of the trial date, although he did send a letter to her

advising her of the trial setting. This would seem to be the same fact situation dealt with by the Oregon Court in Mahoney and the same rule of law applied, as previously enunciated by this Court.

POINT II

APPELLANT MAY NOT RAISE THE ISSUE OF FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 70A-9-501 AND 504, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1953, AS AMENDED) FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

The Utah Supreme Court has long held that it will not review a matter raised for the first time on appeal. In Edgar v. Wagner, 572 P.2d 405 (Utah, 1977), the Court held that a matter not raised at trial cannot be raised on appeal. In that case, the appellant in a Motion for a New Trial asserted that the trial court had erred in not allowing a set-off for the value of certain improvements. On appeal, this Court held that the matter had not been raised at trial and there was no abuse of discretion in denying the Motion for a New Trial as the evidence had not been newly discovered as required under Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In an earlier case, Wagner v. Olsen, 25 U.2d 366, 482 P.2d 702 (1971), this Court stated:

"Matters neither raised in the pleadings nor put in issue at trial cannot be raised for the first time on appeal."

Appellant first raised the issue of failure to comply with Section 70A-9-501 and 504 in her Objections to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment submitted after the trial court entered Judgment in favor of the respondent. This issue was not set forth in the pleadings nor was it put at issue during the trial. As in Edgar, appellant made her objections pursuant to the provisions of Rules 59 and 60. After the entry of Judgment those objections were denied by the trial court. Clearly the matter was not raised in the trial and thus may not be asserted on appeal.

American States Insurance Co. v. Miller, Adams and Crawford, 557 P.2d 756 (Utah, 1976) appears dispositive here. In that case, the trial court granted defendants Motion to Compel Satisfaction of a Default Judgment. The basis of the Motion was an alleged agreement entered into between the plaintiff and defendants after the Judgment had been entered, and made reference to certain notice provisions of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code. This Court found that the issue had not been raised prior to trial and that it:

" . . . [C]ame as an afterthought and showed up first in the memorandum of authorities after change of counsel, and in the briefs on appeal."

The Supreme Court cited the provisions of Rule 8(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which Rule requires that affirmative defenses be set forth in the pleadings.

Zions First National Bank v. Hurst, 570 P.2d 1031 (Utah, 1977) is also controlling. In that case the defendant-appellant argued that the plaintiff had failed to notify him of the time and place of the sale of five airplanes used as collateral for a loan. This Court found that Section 70A-9-504, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), requires that the secured party shall give notice to the debtor. However, the matter had not been raised in the pleadings, there was no trial of the issue, nor a showing of any damage or disadvantage to the defendant. This Court further stated:

More importantly, the usual rule is that failure to so notify does not release the debtor from a deficiency that may arise; but upon such failure he may get credit for (or recover) only for any loss caused by the failure to so notify. [(Section 70A-9-507, Utah Code Annotated, (1953, as amended)]

In the present case, as in Hurst, there was no substantial or prejudicial error or any injustice resulting from the failure to notify appellant of the sale. Even if appellant could raise this issue on appeal, the failure to notify is not fatal and would not release appellant-debtor from the deficiency arising from sale of the car. In Commercial Credit Corporation v. Wollgast, 521 P.2d 1191 (Wash. App., 1974), the Court held that the only penalty for failure to give proper notice of the sale of collateral is the debtor's right to recover from the creditor any loss caused by the failure to give such notice. The Court determined that the failure to give proper notice did not deprive the creditor of its right to a Deficiency Judgment especially since the sale was made in a commercially reasonable manner and the debtor had failed to establish any damage by virtue of method, manner, time and terms of the sale. Similarly, in this case, the failure to give notice is irrelevant where the sale of the automobile was made in a commercially reasonable manner pursuant to established procedures in the used car business. Appellant makes no allegation that the resale of the vehicle was not made in a commercially reasonable manner and has made no showing of damages resulting from respondent's resale of the automobile.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED DAMAGES TO RESPONDENT FOR APPELLANT'S BREACH OF CONTRACT.

In breach of contract cases, it is the general rule that the non-breaching party should receive an award which will put him in as good a position as he would have been had there been no breach of contract. Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Co., 23 U.2d 1, 455 P.2d 197 (1969). In order to return respondent to the position in which it would have been had there been no breach of contract, appellant must pay the damages incurred by respondent.

Appellant cites errors in the trial court's award of damages which are not supported by the record. Appellant alleges in her Brief that the trial court awarded respondent lost profits which were not lost. However, the testimony at trial indicated that respondent would have earned a profit of \$829.00 on the contract between respondent and appellant had appellant not breached the contract. (R. 148). The testimony further indicated that the profit received by respondent on the resale of the automobile was the sum of \$150.00, which was off set by storage costs, interest fees, advertising, and other charges. (R. 166).

Appellant also cites error in the award of the sum of \$100.00 for "expense of processing". However, the evidence at trial was that this represented respondent's expenses incurred in the processing of each sale of a vehicle and was incurred in the sale to respondent, as well as in the resale of the vehicle. (R. 148).

Appellant cites error in the award of commissions in the sum of \$392.01, but appears to be only contesting \$88.00 of that sum. This amount was earned by one of respondent's salesman but was never paid due to the breach of the contract by appellant. However, it was a damage suffered by respondent due to appellant's breach and, as such, was recoverable in order to place respondent in the position it would have been but for the breach of contract.

Appellant cites error in the award of profit from a service contract in the sum of \$260.00 and alleges that the record is that only 35% of this would have been lost had the second purchaser on resale not taken a service contract. The fact that a subsequent purchaser on resale elected to purchase a service contract has no bearing on the damages suffered by the respondent due to appellant's breach of contract. Respondent earned a new profit on a service contract on

that sale which is irrelevant to the issue of damages in this case.

Finally, appellant complains of the trial court's award of the sum of \$1,018.56 for repairs respondent made to the vehicle, alleging that the cost of those repairs to respondent was only the sum of \$778.91. Appellant ignores the fact that, but for the breach of contract, appellant would have paid the retail cost of the repairs in the sum of \$1,018.56 and this is the amount of damages suffered by respondent.

The trial court heard the evidence and carefully considered the proper amount of damages to be awarded to respondent for appellant's breach of the conditional sale contract and did not abuse its discretion in awarding Judgment to the respondent herein. There is sufficient evidence to support the trial court's decision and this Court should not disturb the amount of the Judgment.

POINT IV

APPELLANT COULD NOT PROPERLY REVOKE
HER ACCEPTANCE OF THE AUTOMOBILE
UNDER SECTION 70A-2-608, UTAH CODE
ANNOTATED (1953, AS AMENDED) OR
RESCIND THE CONTRACT WHERE THERE
WAS NO DEFECT IN THE AUTOMOBILE.

Appellant's assertion is correct that Utah law allows the purchaser of defective goods to revoke acceptance or rescind a contract where a defect exists and is not discovered at the time of sale. However, this provision is based on the premise that the buyer receives an item whose defect substantially impairs its value. In other words, the buyer may revoke acceptance within a reasonable time after discovering a defect and before any substantial change in the goods occurs which is not caused by the defect. In the present case, there was no unknown or discoverable defect in the automobile. Rather, it suffered a substantial change in condition as a result of the abusive driving habits of appellant's son. Appellant asserts that there was apparently some defect in the car which caused its demise other than the damages caused by the driver. The appellant offers no explanation as to what the "other defect" might have been and offers no proof as to its existence. On the contrary, testimony at the trial clearly indicated that the untimely demise of the automobile engine resulted from bad driving practices. (R. 169 - 176)

The value of the car was substantially impaired not by any hidden defect but by its use in the three weeks following the agreement to purchase.

Appellant's son, the principal driver of the automobile, had driven the car some 3,500 miles between March 20 and April 15 of 1978. (R. 217) Upon discovering that the automobile would no longer run, appellant's son abandoned it. Respondent was forced to pick up the car, return it to the garage, and attempt to repair it. Thereafter, appellant's son offered to resume ownership or resume the contract if respondent would agree to put a new engine in the car at no expense to appellant. Respondent was under no obligation to repair the automobile and violated no warranty duty in refusing to repair or replace an engine that was of fit and merchantable quality at the time of sale.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED ATTORNEY'S FEES TO RESPONDENT.

The trial court awarded attorney's fees to respondent on the basis of the contract between the parties which provided for an award of attorney's fees upon a breach of contract. Appellant has cited this as error but seems to argue that the award of attorney's fees is improper only because appellant should have prevailed on the merits. However, appellant did not prevail on the merits, the trial court found in favor

of respondent, and the award of attorney's fees was based on the provisions of the contract between the parties.

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